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About Tungsten Mining 

Australian tungsten developer, Tungsten Mining NL is an Australian based resources company listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange.  

Tungsten (chemical symbol W), occurs naturally on Earth, not in its pure form but as a constituent of other 
minerals, only two of which support commercial extraction and processing - wolframite ((Fe, Mn) WO4) and 

scheelite (CaWO4).  

Tungsten has the highest melting point of all elements except carbon – around 3400°C giving it excellent high 
temperature mechanical properties and the lowest expansion coefficient of all metals. Tungsten is a metal of 
considerable strategic importance, essential to modern industrial development (across aerospace and defence, 
electronics, automotive, extractive and construction sectors) with uses in cemented carbides, high-speed steels 
and super alloys, tungsten mill products and chemicals.  

Through exploration and acquisition, the Company has established a globally significant tungsten resource 
inventory in its portfolio of advanced mineral projects across Australia.  This provides the platform for the 
Company to become a major player within the global primary tungsten market through the development of low-
cost tungsten concentrate production. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2022 Financial Report 
        
 



 

Page 2 of 48 

Contents 
Directors’ Report ...................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration ...................................................................................................................... 15 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income ....................................................... 16 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position ........................................................................................................ 17 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ....................................................................................................... 18 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ................................................................................................................. 19 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.................................................................................................... 20 

Directors’ Declaration ............................................................................................................................................. 44 

Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................ 45 

  



 

Page 3 of 48 

Directors’ Report 

The directors of Tungsten Mining NL (“Tungsten Mining” or “the Company”) present their report for Tungsten Mining 
NL, comprising the Company and the entities it controls (“the Group”), for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

DIRECTORS 

The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report 
are as follows.  Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated. 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 

 
Gary Lyons   
Non-executive Chairman 
 

Mr Lyons is a successful and well respected Perth based businessman; being a 
shareholder and the Managing Director of the Heiniger Group’s Australasian 
operations for over 30 years. 

Mr Lyons was appointed a director on 16 July 2014 and elected non-executive 
chairman on 5 January 2015.  Mr Lyons is a member of the Audit Risk 
Management Committee. 

Other present ASX company directorships: GWR Group Limited, eMetals Limited, 
Western Gold Resources Limited 
Other previous ASX company directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

 
 

Tan Sri Dato' Tien Seng Law  
Non-executive Deputy Chairman 
 
Mr Law was appointed to the Board on 15 January 2018. 

Mr Law is a highly experienced investor in iron ore companies and was previously 
the Deputy Chairman and major shareholder of Midwest Corporation Limited. Mr 
Law also has extensive business interests and investments in China. Mr Law is 
currently the executive Chairman of T.S. Law Holding Sdn Bhd, an investment 
holding company in Malaysia, covering a diverse range of industries. These 
companies include those with activities in steel making and distribution, property 
investment and development and food and beverage. 

Mr Law is the appointed Malaysian Business Advisor of Jinan Group of 
Companies of the Shandong Province, the People’s Republic of China. He has a 
substantial interest in Ji Kang Dimensi Sdn Bhd, a company within the Jinan 
Group of Companies operating a steel plates manufacturing plant in Malaysia. 

Mr Law is a substantial stakeholder and Deputy Chairman of Hiap Teck Venture 
Berhad, a Malaysian listed company engaged in distribution and trading of steel 
related products and as well as manufacturing of steel pipes. 

Mr Law through Hiap Teck Venture Bhd, entered into a joint venture with Beijing’s 
Jianlong Heavy Industry Group Co. Ltd to set up Eastern Steel Sdn Bhd (ESSB), 
an integrated steel mill with a production capacity of 1.5 million MT, located on 
the east coast of Peninsula Malaysia.  The Jianlong Group ranks eighth in the 
world and fifth in China for steel making. 

Other present ASX company directorships: GWR Group Limited 
Other previous ASX company directorships (last 3 years): Nil 
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Kong Leng (Jimmy) Lee   
Non-executive Director  
 
Mr Lee is a mining engineer with more than 30 years of industry experience and 
is a member of AusIMM. He has successfully worked with a number of major 
Australian mining companies and has held senior positions with Hamersley Iron 
Ltd, Dominion Mining Ltd, Christmas Island Phosphates, North Ltd and Carey 
Mining Ltd. 
 
Mr Lee provides mining and corporate advisory services to the mining industry 
and was formerly a founding director of Terrain Minerals Limited. In addition, he 
has a successful track record with contract negotiations and company investment 
strategies.  Mr Lee is a member of the Audit Risk Management Committee. 
 
Other present ASX company directorships: GWR Group Limited 
Other previous ASX company directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

 
Chew Wai Chuen   
Non-executive Director  
 
Mr Chew Wai Chuen was appointed to the Board as a non-executive Director on 
17 April 2014.  He is also a member of Audit Risk Management Committee.  
 
Mr Chew is presently the Chairman and Independent Director of Fortress Minerals 
Limited, a resources company listed on the Singapore Securities Exchange 
(SGX), whose primarily focused is on the exploration and development of iron ore 
projects in Malaysia, and is also the Managing Partner of Precious Capital Pte 
Ltd, a company engaged in the business of providing management and advisory 
services to mining companies in Australia and South East Asia. 
 
Mr. Chew has more than 15 years of financial advisory experience and specializes 
in the provision of corporate and wealth management for ultra-high net worth 
individuals. He has accumulated experience in the private banking sector with 
Credit Suisse, United Overseas Bank, Standard Chartered Bank and OCBC 
Bank.  
 
In 2000, Mr Chew has obtained his bachelor’s degree in business administration 
from Thames Valley University. 
 
Other present ASX company directorships: Nil 
Other previous ASX company directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

 
Teck Siong Wong   
Executive Director and interim Chief Executive Officer 
 
Mr Wong was appointed as an executive Director and interim Chief Executive 
Officer on 9 August 2022.  Prior to this appointment, he was Non-executive 
Director. 
 
Mr Wong has considerable international business experience having worked in 
Hong Kong, the United Kingdom and now in Malaysia and Indonesia after 
graduating with a Bachelor of Business degree from Swinburne University 
(Melbourne).  
 
Mr Wong is involved with the iron ore mining industry in Indonesia. He was 
previously involved in the sales and export of steel related products and was a 
director of a retail chain business in the United Kingdom, previously known as JW 
Carpenter Ltd. Mr Wong was working in the OEM plastic manufacturing industry 
in Hong Kong prior to taking up a position in the steel industry in Malaysia. 
Mr Wong is a member of the Audit Risk Management Committee. 
 
Other present ASX company directorships: eMetals Limited and Western Gold 
Resources Limited. Alternate director at GWR Group Limited for Tan Sri Dato’ 
Tien Seng Law  
Other previous ASX company directorships (last 3 years): Nil 
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 Russell Clark   
Non-executive Director 
 
Mr Clark was appointed as a non-executive Director on 11 February 2020. 
Mr Clark is a highly experienced and successful senior resource sector executive, 
and has more than 40 years’ experience in corporate, operational and project 
development roles in Australia and elsewhere. He is currently also the Chairman 
of ASX listed iron ore development companies Pearl Gull Iron and CZR 
Resources. 
 
Mr Clark’s experience includes being the Managing Director of Wolf Minerals, 
CEO of Azimuth Resources, CEO of Kasbah Resources and Managing Director 
of Grange Resources.  Prior to these roles he worked for Renison Goldfields for 
18 years at numerous mining operations and spent eight years with Newmont 
where his final role was Group Executive of Operations, responsible for seven 
mining operations in Australia and New Zealand. 
 
As Managing Director of Wolf Minerals, Mr Clark successfully oversaw the 
financing and construction of the Hemerdon tungsten project in Devon, UK, an 
open pit mining operation and processing plant producing tungsten concentrate. 
 
Mr Clark holds a Mining Engineering degree (BSc Hons) from the Royal School 
of Mines, London, UK and Graduate Diploma from the Securities Institute of 
Australia.  He is a fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr Clark 
is a member of the Audit Risk Management Committee. 
 
Other present ASX company directorships: CZR Resources Limited, Pearl Gull 
Iron Limited 
Other previous ASX company directorships (last 3 years): Nil 

 Wai Cheong Law   
Alternate Director for Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law 
 
Mr Law was appointed as an alternate director to Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law on 
20 July 2018. 
 
Mr Law holds an LLB (Hons) from Cardiff University in Wales, UK, and an MSc in 
Management from Cass Business School, University of London, UK.  He is also 
a Barrister-at-Law at Lincoln’s Inn.   
 
Mr Law has experience in various facets of business and industry.  He currently 
oversees and spearheads the business development for the Malaysian family-
owned TS Law Group, a burgeoning and diversified group of companies engaged 
in steel production, mining and property development and investments in 
Malaysia, China, Australia, United Kingdom and the USA.  Mr Law is also an 
executive member of the board of directors of Hiap Teck Venture Berhad, a 
Malaysian PLC. 
 
Other present ASX company directorships:  Nil 
Other previous ASX company directorships (last 3 years): Nil 
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COMPANY SECRETARIES 

 Mark Pitts 
 
Mr Pitts is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants with more than 30 
years’ experience in statutory reporting and business administration. He has been 
directly involved with and consulted to a number of public companies holding 
senior financial management positions. 
 
He is a Director of the corporate advisory firm Endeavour Corporate providing 
company secretarial support, corporate and compliance advice to a number of 
ASX listed public companies. 

 
Simon Borck  
 
Mr Borck was appointed as joint Company Secretary on 8 November 2016.  He 
is a Chartered Accountant with 20 years’ experience in statutory, financial and 
management reporting for companies operating within the resources sector and 
has held senior financial management positions. 
 
He has a range of experience with mining service providers and has operated with 
resources companies in all stages of exploration, development and production. 
Past positions include Financial Controller of iron ore producer Territory 
Resources Limited, which was listed on the ASX prior to its acquisition by the 
Noble Group.    

INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY AND RELATED 
BODIES CORPORATE 

As at the date of this report, the interests of directors in shares or options of the Company were: 

 Ordinary shares Unlisted options 

 Number Number 

Non-executive Directors   

Gary Lyons 8,000,000 - 

Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law 77,415,000 - 

Kong Leng (Jimmy) Lee 6,000,000 - 

Russell Clark - - 

Teck Siong Wong 6,000,000 - 

Chew Wai Chuen 6,729,168 - 

Wai Cheong Law 5,831,148 - 
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SHARES UNDER OPTION 

At the date of this report and balance date, there were no options on issue (2021: Nil). Since balance date to the date 
of this report the Company had issued no options (2021: Nil). 

No options expired or were cancelled during the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil). During the year ended 30 June 
2022, no options were exercised (2021: 16,000,000).   

At the date of this report and balance date, no employee options were on issue (2021: Nil).  During the year ended 30 
June 2022, no employee options were issued or exercised (2021: Nil).      

The holders of unlisted options were not entitled to any voting rights until the options were exercised into ordinary shares.  
These unlisted options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body 
corporate.  Refer to the Remuneration Report for further details of options for Key Management Personnel (KMP). 

 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The number of meetings of the company’s Board of Directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 
30 June 2022, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

 

 Full Board Audit Committee 

 Attended Held Attended Held 

Gary Lyons 3 3 2 2 

Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law 1 2 3 1 2 

Kong Leng (Jimmy) Lee  3 3 2 2 

Russell Clark  3 3 2 2 

Chew Wai Chuen  3 3 2 2 

Teck Siong Wong  3 3 2 2 

1. Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law’s attendance represents the number of meetings that he or his 
alternate director, Wai Cheong Law attended. 

 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 

The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a 
director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith. 
 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to ensure the directors and executives 
of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance 
prohibits disclosure of the nature of liability and the amount of the premium. 
 

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITORS 

The Company has not, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the Company 
or any related entity against a liability incurred by auditor. 
 
During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
company or any related entity. 
 

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year and the directors do not recommend the 
payment of dividend in respect of the financial year. 
 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the Group during the financial year were studies on the Mt Mulgine project and exploration 
activities in relation to tungsten projects in Australia. 
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Review of operations 

The Mt Mulgine Project (the Project) remained the highest priority development project for the Company, responsible 
for the majority of activity during the 2022 financial year. 

Since reporting the successful maiden Ore Reserve and positive Pre-Feasibility Study for the Mt Mulgine Project, 
announced to the market on 29 January 2021, the Company has continued to advance the feasibility studies for the 
Project and seek suitable partners capable of supporting the Project’s development. 

During the 2022 financial year, the Company completed a PQ diamond drilling program undertaken to collect core for 
test work with the aim of de-risking the metallurgical flowsheet. Approximately 37 tonnes of core representative of the 
material throughout the deposit within the various stages of the proposed 23-year pit design was recovered. 

In January 2022 the Company announced entering into a non-binding Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with MCC 
International Incorporation Ltd (MCCI), a major global engineering company, to establish a programme of collaboration 
between MCCI and the Company in respect to the completion of feasibility studies at Mt Mulgine.  As contemplated 
under the MOU framework with MCCI, discussions occurred on a proposal from MCCI for a metallurgical test work 
program using a composite sample.  Whilst the parties remain in discussion, no agreement has yet been reached 
concerning the testwork proposal or other matters contemplated by the MoU. 

As a pre-curser to this proposed program, a bulk sample of reserve material used for the Pre-Feasibility Study is 
undergoing preliminary “whole of ore” flotation test work in order to evaluate its viability to produce a saleable scheelite 
concentrate. 

Environmental related activities for the Mt Mulgine Project continued during the 2022 financial year. 

Operating results for the year 

The loss after income tax benefit for the year ended 30 June 2022 was $5,085,149 (2021: $4,722,655), which included 
an expense of $2,177,575 (2021: $1,826,677) for exploration expenditure and $2,183,520 (2021: $2,809,740) of 
remuneration expenses. 

$580,000 was received in relation to the sale of surplus plant and equipment following the execution of a sale agreement 
with the equipment vendor.  In view of this transaction, the carrying values of plant and equipment were reviewed for 
impairment and written down to its estimated recoverable amount of $1,638,225.  The write down resulted in an 
impairment expense of $227,959. 

R&D tax offset of $462,448 (2021: 452,231) was received during the year ended 30 June 2022 from activities conducted 
on the Mt Mulgine Project. 

Environmental Issues 

The Group is aware of its environmental obligations with regards to its exploration activities and ensures that it complies 
with all applicable regulations when carrying out exploration work. 

Events since the end of the financial year 

On 12 August 2022, the Company announced to the ASX the appointment of Non-executive Director, Mr Teck Wong 
as an Executive Director and interim Chief Executive Officer effective from 9 August 2022, following the resignation of 
Mr Craig Ferrier as the Chief Executive Officer. 

There have been no other events occurring subsequent to balance date which have a significant impact on the results 
or position of the company.   
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the Group. 

KMP’s Remuneration Policy 

 The policy of the Group is to pay remuneration of KMP in line with employment market conditions relevant 
in the minerals exploration industry.   

 The Group’s performance, and hence that of its KMP, is measured in terms of a combination of Group share 
price growth, its liquidity and the success of its exploration and development activities. 

 

Relationship between Remuneration Policy and Company Performance 

Objective 

The Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the Group and so as to: 

 reward executives for Group, business team and individual performance; 
 align the interests of executives with those of shareholders; and 
 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

Structure 

At this time, the cash component of remuneration paid to the Directors, the Company Secretary and other senior 
managers is not dependent upon the satisfaction of performance conditions.  

 It is current policy that some executives be engaged by way of consultancy agreements with the Group, 
under which they receive a contract rate based upon the number of hours of service supplied to the Group.  
There is provision for yearly review and adjustment based on consumer price indices.  Such remuneration 
is hence not dependent upon the achievement of specific performance conditions.  This policy is considered 
to be appropriate for the Group, having regard to the current state of its development. 

 The Company recognises the benefit of directors, officers and other employees of the Group holding 
securities in the Company and are encouraged to hold shares, provided that any trading is consistent with 
its Policy for Trading in Company Securities. The Directors, officers and employees of the Group may also 
participate in the share and option plans as described in this report. 
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Details of Remuneration  

Key Management Personnel’s remuneration for the financial year: 
 

  Short-Term 
Post 

employment 
Long-term 

benefits 
Total 

  
Salary & 

Fees 
Other 

services 
Leave 

Provisions 
Super- 

annuation 

Long 
Service 
Leave 

  $ $  $ $ $ $ 

 Non-executive directors 

 Gary Lyons 

2022 109,091 - - 10,909 - 120,000 

2021 109,589 2,500 - 10,648 - 122,737 

 Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law  

2022 100,000 - - - - 100,000 

2021 100,000 - - - - 100,000 

 Chew Wai Chuen 

2022 80,000 - - - - 80,000 

2021 80,000 - - - - 80,000 

 Kong Leng (Jimmy) Lee 

2022 72,727 15,000 - 7,273 - 95,000 

2021 73,059 15,000 - 6,941 - 95,000 

Russell Clark 

2022 72,727 6,818 - 7,955 - 87,500 

2021 73,059 7,991 - 7,700 - 88,750 

 Teck Siong Wong 

2022 80,000 - - - - 80,000 

2021 80,000 - - - - 80,000 

 Wai Cheong Law 1 

2022 - - - - - - 

2021 - - - - - - 

 Other executives 

 Craig Ferrier 3 

2022 340,560 - (93,303) 27,500 5,577 280,334 

2021 341,387 - (6,436) 25,000 5,577 365,528 

 Mark Pitts 2 

2022 42,000 - - - - 42,000 

2021 42,000 - - - - 42,000 

 Simon Borck 

2022 161,484 - 11,926 16,148 5,472 195,030 

2021 153,150 - 4,269 14,549 2,298 174,266 

 Total Remuneration 4 

2022 1,058,589 21,818 (81,377) 69,785 11,049 1,079,864 

2021 1,052,244 25,491 (2,167) 64,838 7,875 1,148,281 

1. Wai Cheong Law is the alternate director for Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law. 

2. Mark Pitts is paid for his services as Company Secretary through Endeavour Corporate Pty Ltd, an entity related to Mr Pitts. 

3. $5,960 of Craig Ferrier’s superannuation was paid as salary during the year. 

4. There were no share based payments during these financial years. 
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Transactions with related parties 

There are no other related party transactions during the year ended 30 June 2022, other than those relating to key 
management personnel (see Note 5). 

Share and option based payments 

During the year end 30 June 2022, no share based payments were made to key management personnel (2021: Nil). 

No options were granted to key management personnel and no loan-funded shares were issued to Directors of the 
Company (2021: Nil).  

Under the Management Fee and Remuneration Sacrifice Share 

Under the Management Fee and Remuneration Sacrifice Share Plan (“Plan”), the eligible directors and senior 
management of the Company may elect to sacrifice part of their directors’ fees or consulting fees to acquire shares in 
the Company.  Under the Plan, the relevant directors and senior management will receive the remainder of their 
directors’ fees or consulting fees in cash.  As such, the shares will be issued for nil cash consideration and will be 
valued at fair market value.  The Plan rules were approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held in 
November 2013 for the purposes of ASX Listing Rules.  During the 2022 and 2021 financial years, no share based 
payments occurred under this Plan.  

Analysis of shares, options and rights over equity instruments granted as compensation 

On 30 June 2022, no options were on issue to key management personnel (2021: Nil). 

During the year ended 30 June 2022, there were no options granted, exercised, or vested to key management 
personnel.  During the year ended 30 June 2021, the prior financial year, 16,000,000 options granted as compensation 
in prior years were exercised by key management personnel as detailed below. 

 

Grant date 
Granted as 

compensation 

Fair value of 
granted 

options at 
grant date 

Vested and 
exercisable 

at the 
beginning 

of year  

Exercised 
during the 
prior year 

Vested and 
exercisable 
at the end 

of year  
  Number $ % Number % 

Non-executive directors 

Gary Lyons  23 Dec 2016 4,000,000 69,632 100% 4,000,000 - 

Chew Wai 
Chuen 

23 Dec 2016 4,000,000 69,632 100% 4,000,000 - 

Kong Leng 
(Jimmy) Lee  

23 Dec 2016 4,000,000  69,632 100% 4,000,000  - 

Teck Siong 
Wong  

23 Dec 2016 4,000,000 69,632 100% 4,000,000 - 

  
16,000,000 278,528 

 
16,000,000  

 
The value of granted Options is the fair value calculated at grant date.  The total value is included in the table above 
and is allocated to remuneration over the vesting period.  Refer to Note 18 in the Financial Statements of this report 
for further details of options granted to key management personnel as remuneration.  There were no shares granted 
to key management personnel during the financial year (2021:nil). 
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Details of Loan-funded shares granted as compensation held at reporting date by key management personnel of the 
Company are detailed below. 
 

Grant date 

Number 
granted as 

compensation Maturity Date 

Fair value of 
share based 

payment Total loan value 

 Number  $ $ 

Non-executive directors  

Gary Lyons  26 Jul 2018 4,000,000 26 Jul 2028 1,749,080 1,912,000 

Tan Sri Dato’ 
Tien Seng Law 26 Jul 2018 6,000,000 26 Jul 2028 2,623,620 2,868,000 

Chew Wai 
Chuen 26 Jul 2018 2,000,000 26 Jul 2028 874,540 956,000 

Kong Leng 
(Jimmy) Lee  26 Jul 2018 2,000,000 26 Jul 2028 874,540 956,000 

Teck Siong 
Wong  26 Jul 2018 2,000,000 26 Jul 2028 874,540 956,000 

  
16,000,000  6,996,320 7,648,000 

The funds to acquire these shares were provided to the Directors under interest free, limited recourse loan agreements 
and are repayable at the earlier of: the 10 year anniversary of the grant of the shares, the sale of the underlying 
shares, or the breach of the agreement. Any dividends received on the loan funded shares are first applied to any 
outstanding loan balance on a post tax basis. 

Service agreements 

There are no contracts in place with regard to the services provided by key management personnel unless otherwise 
stated.  

Agreements with Non-executive Directors 
Mr Gary Lyons was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 16 July 2014 and elected Chairman on 5 January 2015.  
Pursuant to an agreement dated 16 July 2014, his director’s fee was initially set at $40,000 per annum, inclusive of 
superannuation requirement.  Pursuant to the circular resolution signed on the 23 May 2018, the level of directors 
fees payable to Mr Lyons were revised to $120,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation.  In the event of 
termination, there is no notice period required.   

Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 15 January 2018. Pursuant to an 
agreement dated 15 January 2018, his director’s fee was set at $100,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation 
requirement.  In the event of termination, there is no notice period required.   

Mr Kong Leng (Jimmy) Lee was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 2 April 2014.  Pursuant to an agreement 
dated 2 April 2014, his director’s fee was set at $40,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation requirement.  In the 
event of termination, there is no notice period required. Pursuant to the circular resolution signed on the 23 May 2018, 
his directors fees were revised to $80,000 per annum inclusive of superannuation. 

Mr Russell Clark was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 11 February 2020. His director’s fee was set at 
$80,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation requirement. In the event of termination, there is no notice period 
required. 

Mr Chew Wai Chuen was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 17 April 2014.  Pursuant to an agreement dated 
17 April 2014, his director’s fee was set at $40,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation requirement.  In the event 
of termination, there is no notice period required. Pursuant to the circular resolution signed on the 23 May 2018, his 
directors fees were revised to $80,000 per annum. 

Mr Teck Siong Wong was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 8 February 2016.  Pursuant to an agreement 
dated 8 February 2016, his director’s fee was set at $40,000 per annum, inclusive of superannuation requirement.  In 
the event of termination, there is no notice period required. Pursuant to the circular resolution signed on the 23 May 
2018, his directors fees were revised to $80,000 per annum.  On 9 August 2022, Mr Wong was appointed as an 
Executive Director and interim Chief Executive Officer with an unchanged remuneration. 

Mr Craig Ferrier on 30 June 2022 was the Chief Executive Officer and his remuneration was $334,600 (2021: 
$334,600) (plus superannuation contributions). During the financial year, $5,960 of his superannuation entitlement 
was paid as salary. The Company may terminate the agreement by giving three months’ notice in writing. The 
Company may pay Mr Ferrier for any or all of the three months’ notice period in lieu of notice.  Subsequent to the 
financial year, in July 2022, Mr Ferrier elected to step down as Chief Executive Officer and resigned from this position. 
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Service agreements (continued) 

Mr Simon Borck is the Group Financial Controller and was appointed as the Joint Company Secretary on 8 November 
2016. For services he provides to the Company, his remuneration was $178,150 per annum (2021: $153,150) (plus 
statutory superannuation contributions). Mr Borck may terminate his employment by the giving of four weeks’ notice 
in writing to the Company. The Company may terminate his employment agreement by giving four weeks’ notice in 
writing. 

Mr Mark Pitts was appointed as the Company Secretary on 12 December 2014. For services he provides to the 
Company, his remuneration was $3,500 per month (2021: $3,500).  Mr Pitts is paid for his services as Company 
Secretary through Endeavour Corporate Pty Ltd, an entity related to Mr Pitts. 

Use of remuneration consultants 

The Group did not employ the services of any remuneration consultants during the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Shares 

Shareholdings for Key Management Personnel 
The number of ordinary shares in the Company held by key management personnel during the financial year is as 
follows: 

  
Balance at 

beginning of 
year / on 

appointment 

Granted as 
remuneration  

Issued on 
exercise of 

options during 
the year 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Balance at 
end of year 

or 
cessation of 

office 

 Number Number Number Number Number 

Non-executive directors 
     

Gary Lyons  8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 

Tan Sri Dato’ Tien Seng Law 77,415,000 - - - 77,415,000 

Chew Wai Chuen  6,729,168 - - - 6,729,168 

Kong Leng (Jimmy) Lee  6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 

Russell Clark  - - - - - 

Teck Siong Wong 1 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 

Wai Cheong Law 5,831,148 - - - 5,831,148 

Other executives 
     

Craig Ferrier 1 - - - - - 

Simon Borck - - - - - 

Mark Pitts  - - - - - 

 109,975,316 - - - 109,975,316 
 

1. Subsequent to the financial year, on 9 August 2022, Mr Teck  Wong was appointed as an Executive Director and interim Chief 
Executive Officer following the resignation of Mr Craig Ferrier. 

 

End of Remuneration Report 
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Directors’ Report 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is 
set out on page 15 and forms part of this report. 

 

The report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

 

 

 

 
Gary Lyons 
Chairman 
Perth 
Dated 20 September 2022 
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20 September 2022 
 
 
Board of Directors 

Tungsten Mining NL 
Level 4, 
46 Colin Street, 
West Perth WA 6005 
 
 
Dear Directors  
 
 

RE: TUNGSTEN MINING NL 
 
 
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the directors of Tungsten Mining NL. 
 
As Audit Director for the audit of the financial statements of Tungsten Mining NL for the year ended 30 
June 2022, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 
 
(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 
 
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 

STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD 

(An Authorised Audit Company) 

 

 

 

Samir Tirodkar 
Director 
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2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

  2022 2021 

 Note $ $ 

    

Revenue from continuing activities    

R&D tax offset  462,448  452,231  

Interest  56,751 98,267  

Sale of tenements  - 125,000 

Other  20,786 143,475  

    

Total revenue  539,985 818,973 

    

Expenses    

Administration  (860,442) (905,211) 

Exploration  (2,177,575) (1,826,677) 

Remuneration  (2,183,520) (2,809,740) 

Loss on sale of plant & equipment 11 (175,638) - 

Impairment of plant & equipment 11 (227,959) - 

    

Loss from continuing operations before income tax  (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

    

Income tax benefit 4 - - 

    

Net loss for the year  (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

    

Other comprehensive income    

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  - - 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

    

Net loss attributable to members of the Parent  (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

Total comprehensive loss attributable to members of the Parent  (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

    

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 7 (0.65) (0.61) 

 

Diluted loss per share is not disclosed as it would not reflect an inferior position. 

 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2022 
 

  2022 2021 

 Note $ $ 

    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 8 14,630,799 19,345,209 

Trade and other receivables 9 36,266 58,206 

Other financial assets 10 353,706 320,058 

Total current assets 
 

15,020,771 19,723,473 

 
 

   

Non-current assets 
 

   

Plant and equipment 11 1,943,143 2,908,375 

Right of use assets 12 316,511 533,715 

Exploration and evaluation 13 19,707,196 19,707,196 

Total non-current assets 
 

21,966,850 23,149,286 

Total assets 
 

36,987,621 42,872,759 

 
 

   

Current liabilities 
 

   

Trade and other payables 14 393,179 931,735 

Lease liabilities 15 281,990 245,879 

Provisions 16 234,398 328,741 

Total current liabilities 
 

909,567 1,506,355 

 
 

    

Non-current liabilities      

Lease liabilities 15 130,161 410,458 

Provisions 16 524,808 447,712 

Total non-current liabilities  654,969 858,170 

Total liabilities  1,564,536 2,364,525 

 
 

   

Net assets 
 

35,423,085 40,508,234 

 
 

    

Equity 
 

    

Issued capital 17 82,460,127 82,460,127 

Reserves 18 7,851,718 7,851,718 

Accumulated losses 19 (54,888,760) (49,803,611) 

Total equity  35,423,085 40,508,234 

 

 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

 
Issued capital Reserves 

Accumulated 
losses 

Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

     

     

At 1 July 2020 81,760,889 7,851,718 (45,080,956) 44,531,651 

Loss for the year - - (4,722,655) (4,722,655) 

Other comprehensive loss (net of tax) - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year (net of tax) - - (4,722,655) (4,722,655) 

     

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:     

Options exercised 704,000 - - 704,000 

Share issue transaction costs (4,762) - - (4,762) 

At 30 June 2021 82,460,127 7,851,718 (49,803,611) 40,508,234 

     

At 1 July 2022 82,460,127 7,851,718 (49,803,611) 40,508,234 

Loss for the year - - (5,085,149) (5,085,149) 

Other comprehensive loss (net of tax) - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year (net of tax) - - (5,085,149) (5,085,149) 

     

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:     

Options exercised - - - - 

Share issue transaction costs - - - - 

At 30 June 2022 82,460,127 7,851,718 (54,888,760) 35,423,085 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 

  



 

Page 19 of 48 

2022 Consolidated Financial Statements 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
As at 30 June 2022 
 

 
 

2022 2021 

 Note $ $ 

    

Cashflows from operating activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees  (5,407,812) (4,841,435) 

Receipts from customers  38,552 73,125 

R&D tax offset received  462,448 452,231 

Government grants  448 68,725 

Interest received  39,599 108,772 

Net cash flows (used in) operating activities 23 (4,866,765) (4,138,582) 

     

Cashflows from investing activities     

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (135,217) (73,109) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 11 580,000 - 

Proceeds from sale of tenements  - 125,000 

Security deposits refunded  - 7,500 

Net cash flows provided by investing activities  444,783 59,391 

     

Cashflows from financing activities     

Lease payments  (292,428) (231,128) 

Payments of share issue costs 17 - (4,762) 

Proceeds from the exercise of options 17 - 704,000 

Net cash flows (used in) / provided by financing activities  (292,428) 468,110 

     

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (4,714,410) (3,611,081) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  19,345,209 22,956,290 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 14,630,799 19,345,209 

  
 

 

 
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

  

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 

 

Note 1: Corporate Information 
 

Tungsten Mining NL (“the Company”) is a public no liability company and was incorporated on 13 July 2011 in 
Australia.  The consolidated financial report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2022 comprises the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). The Group’s principal activities are mineral 
exploration, evaluation and development. 

The nature of operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the directors’ report. 
 

Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies 

(a) Basis of preparation 
 

The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. Compliance with Australian Accounting 
Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the IASB.  

The consolidated financial report has also been prepared on an accruals and historical cost basis. Cost is based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange of assets.  The consolidated financial report is presented in 
Australian dollars.  The accounting policies detailed below have been consistently followed throughout the period 
presented unless otherwise stated. 

(b) New accounting standards and interpretations 
 
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.  The adoption of the new 
or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not result in any significant changes to the Group’s 
accounting policies in the current or future period. 

Those new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations which may be relevant to the Group are set out 
below: 

AASB 2021-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 
June 2021 

The Group has applied AASB 2021-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – COVID-19-Related Rent 
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 this reporting period. 

The amendment amends AASB 16 to extend by one year, the application of the practical expedient added to AASB 
16 by AASB 2020-4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions. The 
practical expedient permits lessees not to assess whether rent concessions that occur as a direct consequence of 
the COVID-19 pandemic and meet specified conditions are lease modifications and instead, to account for those 
rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications. The amendment has not had a material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.  

AASB 2020-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 

The Group has applied AASB 2020-8 which amends various standards to help listed entities to provide financial 
statement users with useful information about the effects of the interest rate benchmark reform on those entities’ 
financial statements. As a result of these amendments, an entity: 

• will not have to derecognise or adjust the carrying amount of financial statements for changes required by the 
reform, but will instead update the effective interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate; 

• will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting solely because it makes changes required by the reform, if the 
hedge meets other hedge accounting criteria; and 

• will be required to disclose information about new risks arising from the reform and how it manages the transition 
to alternative benchmark rates. The amendment has not had a material impact on the Group’s financials. 

 
  



 

Page 21 of 48 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(b) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued) 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations issued by the AASB which are not yet 
mandatorily applicable to the Group have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 
Those which may be relevant to the Group are set out below. The Group does not plan to adopt these standards 
early. 

AASB 2020-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current 

The amendment amends AASB 101 to clarify whether a liability should be presented as current or non-current. The 
Group plans on adopting the amendment for the reporting period ending 30 June 2024. The amendment is not 
expected to have a material impact on the financial statements once adopted. 

AASB 2020-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other 
Amendments 

AASB 2020-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements 2018-2020 and Other 
Amendments is an omnibus standard that amends AASB 1, AASB 3, AASB 9, AASB 116, AASB 137 and AASB 
141. The Group plans on adopting the amendment for the reporting period ending 30 June 2023. The impact of the 
initial application is not yet known. 

AASB 2021-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and Definition 
of Accounting Estimates 

The amendment amends AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 108, AASB 134 and AASB Practice Statement 2. These 
amendments arise from the issuance by the IASB of the following International Financial Reporting Standards: 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2) and Definition of 
Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8). 

The Group plans on adopting the amendment for the reporting period ending 30 June 2024. The impact of the initial 
application is not yet known. 

AASB 2021-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction 

The amendment amends the initial recognition exemption in AASB 112: Income Taxes such that it is not applicable 
to leases and decommissioning obligations – transactions for which companies recognise both an asset and liability 
and that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The Group plans on adopting the 
amendment for the reporting period ending 30 June 2024. The impact of the initial application is not yet known. 

(c) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if it affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. 

Recovery of deferred tax assets  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only when management considers that it is 
probable that sufficient future tax profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences.  Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based 
upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits over the next two years together with future tax planning 
strategies.  

Mineral acquisition costs 

The Group capitalises and carries forward mineral acquisition costs that are expected to be recouped through sale 
or successful development and exploitation of the area of interest or where exploration and evaluation activities in 
the area of interest have not reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically 
recoverable reserves. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (c) Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 

The Group has exercised judgement in considering the impacts of COVID-19 since the World Health Organisation 
declared the outbreak a pandemic in March 2020. The response from the government in dealing with the outbreak 
has impacted access to tenements and the economy. As of reporting date, the scale and duration of the 
developments remain uncertain. It is difficult to estimate the ongoing effect from the pandemic or government 
responses on the accounting estimates or forecasts. The Group has taken into consideration the limited/prohibited 
access to tenements and as a result may request reduction in minimum expenditures where possible.  The 
methodology for estimates have not changed and have been prepared based upon conditions existing at the date 
of report.    

(d) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation costs are expensed in the period they are incurred apart from mineral acquisition costs, 
which are capitalised and carried forward where right to tenure of the area of interest is current and they are expected 
to be recouped through sale or successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or where exploration 
and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves. 

Where an area of interest is abandoned or the directors decide that it is not commercial, any accumulated mineral 
acquisition costs in respect of that area are written off in the financial period the decision is made. Each area of 
interest is also reviewed at the end of each accounting period and capitalised costs written off to the extent it is 
deemed that they will not be recoverable in the future. 

Amortisation is not charged on costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the development phase until 
production commences.  

(e) Plant & Equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impaired in 
value. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

Plant and equipment – over 3 to 25 years 

Impairment 

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash 
inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

If any indication exists of impairment and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the 
assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable amount.  

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  

Derecognition 

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the 
period the item is derecognised. 

  



 

Page 23 of 48 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(f) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the period is measured at amounts expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities based on the current year’s taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used for computations 
are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance date.  Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at balance date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except where the deferred income 
tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised 
except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.  

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax 
asset to be utilised.  Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance date.  

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the statement of 
comprehensive income.  

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority. 

(g) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and services tax (GST) except:  
 where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 

which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item 
as applicable; and 

 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position.  Cash flows are included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which 
is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows.  Commitments and 
contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

(h) Provisions and employee benefits 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  When the Group expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset 
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 
statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.  Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance date. If the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of 
time is recognised in finance costs. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

 

Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(h) Provisions and employee benefits (continued) 

Employee leave benefits 

(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave due to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ services up 
to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities 
for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable. 

(ii) Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank 
overdrafts. 

(j) Receivables 

Receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 

Collectability or receivables are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known to be uncollectible are written 
off when identified. An allowance for doubtful debts is raised when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 
be able to collect the debt. 

(k) Revenue recognition 

Under AASB15 revenue is recognised when a performance obligation is satisfied, being when control of the goods 
or services underlying the performance obligations is transferred to the customer. 

R&D tax rebates are recognised when the receipts are deemed probable and the amounts can be measured reliably. 
Government grants are recognised when received. 

(l) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(m) Trade and other payables 

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes 
obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 

(n) Earnings/(Loss) per share 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the Group adjusted to 
exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 

Options that are considered to be dilutive are taken into consideration when calculating the diluted earnings per 
share. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 
 
Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(o) Financial Instruments 
 
Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are measured initially at fair value 
adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case transaction 
costs are expensed to profit or loss. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine the fair 
value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities are described below.  
 
Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the receivables do not contain a significant financing 
component in accordance with AASB 15.  
  
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 
when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised 
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets  

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the 

transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for 

transaction costs (where applicable).  

 

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging 

instruments, are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:  

 amortised cost;  
 fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and  
 fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).  

 
Classifications are determined by both:  

 The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets; and  
 The entities business model for managing the financial asset.  

Financial assets at amortised cost  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated 

as FVPL):  

 they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual 
cash flows; and  

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is 

omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other 

receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (Equity instruments)  

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and 

 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial asset.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(o) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses 
or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. 

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 
designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and are not held for trading. 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated 

upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at 

fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or 

repurchasing in the near term.  

 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the 

Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for 

derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or 

losses recognised in profit or loss. 

 

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, gains and losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in profit 

or loss.  

Impairment  

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried 
at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by AASB, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 
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Note 2: Statement of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(p) Leases  

The Group has various property leases. Lease contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years but may 
have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms 
and conditions. 

Leases have been recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment was allocated between the liability and finance cost. The 
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the 
asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the 
net present value of the following lease payments:  

 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable  
 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate  
 amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees  
 the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and  
 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.  

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the 
Company’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the Company would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and 
conditions. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:  

 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 
 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
 any initial direct costs, and  
 restoration costs.  

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis 
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. 

(q) Share Based Payments  

Under AASB 2 Share Based Payments, the Group must recognise the fair value of options granted to directors, 
employees and consultants/contractors as remuneration as an expense on a pro-rata basis over the vesting period in 
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to 
equity.   

The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) and consultants/contractors of the Group in the form 
of share based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over 
shares (“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees (including 
directors) and consultants/contractors is measured by reference to fair value at the date they are granted. The fair 
value is determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model. 
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Note 3(a): Segment information 

The Group has based its operating segment on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the chief operators 
decision makers (the Board) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources. 

The Group currently does not have production and is only involved in exploration and evaluation.  As a consequence, 
activities in the operating segment are identified by the Board based on the manner in which resources are allocated, 
the nature of the resources provided and the identity of the manager and country of expenditure. Information is 
reviewed on a whole of entity basis. 

Based on these criteria, the Group has only one operating segment, being exploration, and evaluation and the 
segment operations and results are reported internally based on the accounting policies as described in note 2 for the 
computation of the controlled entity’s results presented in this set of financial statements. 

Note 3(b): Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent Tungsten Mining 
NL and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The parent controls an entity when it is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 27.  

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the Group 
from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the 
date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions 
between Group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group.  

Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non controlling 
interests". The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests in subsidiaries 
and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets on liquidation at either fair value or at the non-
controlling interests' proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, non-
controlling interests are attributed their share of profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income. 
Non-controlling interests are shown separately within the equity section of the statement of financial position and 
statement of comprehensive income.  
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Note 4: Income Tax 

 
Consolidated 

 2022 2021 

 $ $ 

(a) Prima facie income tax benefit at 30% on loss from ordinary activities is reconciled to the income tax 

provided in the financial statements 

Loss from continuing operations before income tax (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

Prima facie tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 30%  (1,525,545) (1,416,797) 

Tax effect of:   

Non-deductible expenses (6,787)  24,345  

Non-assessable income (138,734)  (139,393) 

Adjustments in the current year in relation to the current tax of previous 
years 304,817  311,884  

Change in corporate tax rate - - 

Effect of deferred taxes that would be recognised directly in equity -  (1,429) 

Tax losses & temporary differences not brought to account 1,366,249  1,221,390 

Income tax expense/(benefit) - - 

(b) Deferred tax assets 

Deferred tax assets that have not be recognised:   

Prepayments 22,200 - 

Trade & other payables 9,000  22,500  

Employee benefits 76,534  104,656  

Other future deductions 82,968  231,608  

Unused tax losses 14,767,709  13,262,187  

 14,958,411 13,620,951 

Deferred tax asset not recognised (14,958,411) (13,620,951) 

Income tax receivable - - 

(c) Deferred tax liabilities   

Trade & other receivables 6,441  1,295 

Prepayments 32,819  21,610 

Mining tenements and rights 83,711  128,555 

 122,971 151,460 

Deferred tax liability not brought to account (122,971) (151,460) 

Income tax payable - - 

   

Potential deferred net tax assets of $14,835,440 as at 30 June 2022 (2021: $13,469,491), arising from tax losses 
and temporary differences have not been recognised as an asset because recovery of these tax losses and 
temporary differences is not yet probable. 
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Note 5: Key Management Personnel remuneration 

 
Consolidated 

 2022 2021 
 

$ $ 
 

  

Short-term benefits 999,030 1,075,568 

Share-based payments - - 

Long-term benefits 11,049 7,875 

Post-employment benefits 69,785 64,838 

 1,079,864 1,148,281 

Refer to the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report for further details of the remuneration paid or 
payable and equity holdings of the Group’s key management personnel. 

 

Note 6: Auditor’s remuneration 

 
 

Consolidated 

 2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

   

Remuneration of the auditor of the Group for:   

- auditing or reviewing the financial report (accruals) 50,725 49,691 

- under accrual in prior year 2,429 3,938 
 

53,154 53,629 

 

Note 7: Loss per share 

 
 

Consolidated 

 2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

    

Basic loss per share (cents) (0.65) (0.61) 

Loss used in calculating basic loss per share (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 
   

 Number Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 
basic loss per share 786,414,272 777,121,121 

The diluted loss per share is not disclosed as it would not reflect an inferior position. 
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Note 8: Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Consolidated 

 2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

   

Cash at bank 1,427,979 2,154,831 

Term deposits 13,202,820 17,190,378 

 14,630,799 19,345,209 

Cash and cash equivalents earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are 
made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of 
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 

 

Note 9: Trade and other receivables 

 
Consolidated 

 
2022 2021 

 
$ $ 

Current   

GST receivable 5,382 26,262 

Interest receivable 21,470 4,318 

Other receivables 9,414 27,626 

 36,266 58,206 

These non-trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 days terms. The carrying amounts 
of these receivables represent fair value and are not considered to be impaired.  $5,912 (2021: $21,976), of other 
receivables is recoverable from GWR Group Limited which is a related party to the Group (Refer to Note 22(a)). 

 

Note 10: Other financial assets 

 
Consolidated 

 2022 2021 

 $ $ 

Current   

Prepayments 109,396 72,033 

Secured cash – Term deposits 244,310 244,310 

Other - 3,715 

 353,706 320,058 

Secured cash support certain bank guarantees that reduce credit risk to the Group for the terms of arrangements in 
place. 
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Note 11: Plant and equipment 

 

Processing 
Plant 

Office 
Equipment 

Exploration 
Equipment 

Computer 
Software Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

2022      

Cost 1,638,225 158,847 373,375 67,270 2,237,717 

Accumulated depreciation - (127,175) (105,595) (61,804) (294,574) 

 1,638,225 31,672 267,780 5,466 1,943,143 

      

Opening net carrying value 2,667,347 61,167 163,746 16,115 2,908,375 

Additions - - 135,775  135,775 

Disposals (801,163) (558) - - (801,721) 

Impairment (227,959) - - - (227,959) 

Depreciation charge for the year - (28,937) (31,741) (10,649) (71,327) 

Closing net carrying value 1,638,225 31,672 267,780 5,466 1,943,143 

      

2021      

Cost 2,667,347 160,343 237,598 67,270 3,132,558 

Accumulated depreciation - (99,176) (73,852) (51,155) (224,183) 

 2,667,347 61,167 163,746 16,115 2,908,375 

      

Opening net carrying value 2,576,297 93,811 110,947 26,765 2,807,820 

Additions 91,050 - 69,587 - 160,637 

Depreciation charge for the year - (32,644) (16,788) (10,650) (60,082) 

Closing net carrying value 2,667,347 61,167 163,746 16,115 2,908,375 

      

Processing Plant 

The processing plant above includes a dismantled mineral processing facility and an unused x-ray ore sorter, including 
spare parts, that were acquired in prior financial years.  The processing plant is held in storage and is not currently 
being depreciated as it is not in use. 

Disposal of Processing Plant 

During the year ended 30 June 2022 the Group executed an agreement for the disposal of an unused x-ray ore sorter, 
with a carrying value of $801,163 for total consideration of $625,525.  This consideration consisted of $580,000 cash 
and the wavier of an amount owing of $45,525 pursuant to the terms of the original acquisition agreement.  This 
disposal resulted in a loss on sale of $175,638.   

Impairment of Processing Plant 

During the year ended 30 June 2022 and in view of the sale transaction described above, the carrying values of plant 
and equipment were reviewed for impairment and written down to its estimated recoverable amount of $1,638,225.  
The write down resulted in an impairment expense of $227,959. 

  



 

Page 33 of 48 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Note 12: Right of use assets 

  Consolidated  

 2022 2021 

   $ $ 

      

Cost 1,086,019 1,086,019 

Accumulated depreciation (769,508) (552,304) 

  316,511 533,715 

      

Opening net carrying value 533,715 750,918 

Depreciation charge for the year (217,204) (217,203) 

Closing net carrying value 316,511 533,715 

   

Building leases 

The above right-of-use assets relate to certain building leases that were entered into in prior years by the Group 
(refer Note 15).  The right-of-use asset is measured at the amount equal to the lease liability at the inception of the 
lease and then this cost is amortised over the life of the lease. 
 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability 
 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives receive 
 any initial direct costs 
 and restoration costs 

 
These right-of-use assets are being amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis of five years. 
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Note 13: Exploration and evaluation 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

   

Mineral acquisition costs 19,707,196 19,707,196 

 19,707,196 19,707,196 

Capitalised acquisition costs 

The Group capitalises the acquisition costs in accordance with its accounting policy for exploration and evaluation 
expenditure. The ultimate recoupment of acquisition costs carried forward in the exploration and evaluation phases 
are dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas.  

The following table illustrates the movement in the carrying value of Exploration and evaluation: 

 Mt Mulgine Big Hill Kilba Watershed 
Hatches 
Creek Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

       

At 1 July 2020 1,193,546 158,625 1,000,000 15,548,896 1,806,129 19,707,196 

At 30 June 2021 1,193,546 158,625 1,000,000 15,548,896 1,806,129 19,707,196 

       

At 1 July 2021 1,193,546 158,625 1,000,000 15,548,896 1,806,129 19,707,196 

At 30 June 2022 1,193,546 158,625 1,000,000 15,548,896 1,806,129 19,707,196 

 

Note 14: Trade and other payables 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

Current   

Trade payables 161,138 507,235 

Accrued expenses 172,771 352,971 

Other payables 59,270 71,529 

 393,179 931,735 

   

These are unsecured payables, non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-90 days terms.  Due to the short term 
nature of these payables, the carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 
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Note 15: Lease liabilities 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

Current   

Property lease liabilities 281,990 245,879 

 281,990 245,879 

Non-current     

Property lease liabilities 130,161 410,458 

 130,161 410,458 

Total lease liabilities 412,151 656,337 

   

Property leases 

The above lease liabilities (refer Note 12) relate to certain property leases that were entered into in prior financial 
years by the Group. 

The lease liability at initial recognition was $1,086,019. The lease liability valuation was calculated at lease inception 
from the total lease payment obligations being discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. An 
incremental borrowing rate of 5.68% was based on a secured interest rate that would be apply if finance was sought 
for an amount and time period equivalent to the lease requirements of the Group. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost of $36,777 (2021: $46,309) was included in administration 
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Lease payments during the 
year was $292,428 (2021: $231,128). 

 

Note 16: Provisions 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

Current   

Provision for rehabilitation            9,000             25,000  

Provision for employee annual leave          118,902           226,690  

Provision for employee long service leave            84,871             77,051  

          234,398          328,741  

Non-current     

Provision for rehabilitation          510,000           420,000  

Provision for employee long service leave            14,808             27,712  

          524,808           447,712  

Total provisions          759,206           776,453  

Rehabilitation  

The non-current provision for rehabilitation includes an amount of $400,000 which was assumed in prior financial 
years as part of the Watershed acquisition.  

  



 

Page 36 of 48 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2022 

Note 17: Share capital 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

Issued and Unissued Share Capital   

Ordinary shares fully paid 82,460,127 82,460,127 

 82,460,127 82,460,127 

   

Capital Management 

When managing capital, the Board’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to 
maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.  The Board also aims to maintain a 
capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to the entity.  As the equity market is constantly 
changing the Board may issue new shares to provide for future exploration and development activity.  The company 
is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

Movements in the issued capital of the Company are: 

 Consolidated 

 2022 2021 2022 2021 

 $ $ Number Number 

     

Balance at the beginning of year 82,460,127 81,760,889 786,414,272 770,414,272 

Ordinary Shares     

Shares issued on the exercise of options at $0.03 - 96,000 - 3,200,000 

Shares issued on the exercise of options at $0.04  - 128,000 - 3,200,000 

Shares issued on the exercise of options at $0.05 - 480,000 - 9,600,000 

Cost incurred relating to issue of shares - (4,762) - - 

Balance at end of year 82,460,127 82,460,127 786,414,272 786,414,272 

 

Note 18: Reserves 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

   

Share option reserve 855,398 855,398 

Loan-funded share scheme reserve 6,996,320 6,996,320 

 7,851,718 7,851,718 
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Note 18: Reserves (continued) 

Movement in share options reserve  

The following table illustrates the share based payments expense, number and weighted average exercise 
prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year. 

 Number WAEP $ 

    

At 1 July 2020 16,000,000 $0.044 855,398 

Tranche 1 Directors options exercised during the year (3,200,000) $0.030 - 

Tranche 2 Directors options exercised during the year (3,200,000) $0.040 - 

Tranche 3 Directors options exercised during the year (9,600,000) $0.050 - 

At 30 June 2021 - - 855,398 

    

At 1 July 2021 - - 855,398 

Options issued/(exercised) during the year - - - 

At 30 June 2022 - - 855,398 

 

Vested and exercisable options  

There were no outstanding options at year end. 

 

Note 19: Accumulated losses 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

   

Opening balance (49,803,611) (45,080,956) 

Net loss for the year (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (54,888,760) (49,803,611) 

 

Note 20: Commitments 

Exploration 

Based on the minimum annual commitments pursuant to the terms and conditions of environmental authorities, 
exploration licences and mineral rights the Group will have minimum annual commitment obligations of $613,012 
(2021: $528,589) in the forthcoming year. These obligations are capable of being varied from time to time in order to 
maintain current rights of tenure to mining tenements. 
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Note 21: Contingencies 

Hatches Creek Farm-in Agreement 

In the prior financial years, on 3 June 2019, the Company announced the execution of a Farm-in agreement with 
related party GWR Group Limited (“GWR”) to acquire a 20% interest in the Hatches Creek Tungsten Project (“Hatches 
Creek”).  The Farm-in agreement stages are as follows: 

 The Company has initially acquired a 20% interest in Hatches Creek through the reimbursement of $1,720,942 
in past exploration expenditure incurred by GWR; 

 The Company can increase its interest to 51% by the expenditure of $3,000,000 on exploration, development 
and mining activities within 5 years of the acquisition date; and 

Once a decision to mine has been made, the Company can acquire GWR’s remaining interest for $6,959,058 (indexed 
for CPI).  During the current year it was agreed with GWR to extend the first earn in period by 3 months. 

Mulgine Drilling Incident 

As a result of a drilling incident that occurred at the Mt Mulgine Project in July 2019: 
 A claim for unspecified damages was filed in the District Court of Western Australia in June 2021 in relation to 

alleged loss and damage suffered.  At the date of this report , the Group is defending this claim, therefore it is 

not possible to estimate a liability, and 

 DMIRS has commenced a prosecution against Tungsten Mining NL in the Magistrates Court of Western 

Australia.  At the date of this report, Tungsten Mining NL has not yet entered a plea, therefore it is not possible 

to estimate a liability. 

The Group is not aware of any other significant contingencies that existed at balance date.  

 

Note 22: Related party transactions 

(a) Associates 
 

GWR Group Limited (GWR) 

GWR is a significant shareholder in the Group’s parent Tungsten Mining NL and holds significant influence over 
decision making of the Group.  During the year, the Group received and provided certain services to GWR as 
detailed in the table below.   

 Consolidated 

 2022 2021 

 $ $ 

   

Income   

Staff cost recoveries 33,915 101,335 

Administration reimbursements - 76 

Total Income 33,915  101,411  

   

Expenses   

Project related costs / reimbursements (21,564)     (20,124) 

Total Expenses (21,564)     (20,124) 

Net Income / (Expense) 12,351 81,287  
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Note 22: Related party transactions (continued) 

(a) Associates (continued) 

GWR’s net balance outstanding as at 30 June 2022 was a receivable of $5,912 (2021: $21,976) (refer Note 9) 

(b) Transactions with related parties 

There are no other related party transactions during the year, other than those relating to key management 
personnel (refer Note 5). 

 

Note 23: Cash flow information 

 Consolidated 
 

2022 2021 
 

$ $ 

   
(a) Reconciliation of cash flows from operations with loss 

from ordinary activities after income tax  
 

  
 

Loss from ordinary activities after income tax (5,085,149) (4,722,655) 

   

Add back /(deduct):   

Depreciation 71,327 60,081 

Right-of-asset depreciation 217,204 217,204 

Sale of tenement - (125,000) 

Impairment of plant & equipment  227,959 - 

Loss on sale of plant & equipment 175,638 - 

Interest on leases 36,777 46,309 

Changes in assets and liabilities   

Decrease in trade and other receivables 21,940 9,924 

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets (27,754) 17,513 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (487,460) 359,730 

Decrease in provisions (17,247) (1,688) 

Cash flows used in operations (4,866,765) (4,138,582) 

   

(b) Non cash financing and investing activities   

There were no non-cash financing and investing activities in the current or previous year. 
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Note 24: Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s principal financial instruments are cash and cash equivalents.  The main purpose of the financial 
instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group’s also has other financial instruments such as restricted 
cash, trade debtors and creditors which arise directly from its operations. 
 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and credit risk. The board reviews 
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below:  
 
(a) Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest 
rates.  The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is detailed in the table below.   

The Group’s has not entered into any hedging activities to manage interest rate risk. In regard to its interest rate 
risk, the Group’s continuously analyses its exposure. Within this analysis consideration is given to potential 
renewals of existing positions, alternative investments and the mix of fixed and variable interest rates. 

 

 

  

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

Interest Rate 

Floating  
Interest 

Rate 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 

Total 
Interest 
Bearing 

Non 
Interest 
Bearing Total 

  % $ $ $ $ $ 

2022       

Financial Assets       

Cash 0.24 1,382,253 - 1,382,253 45,726 1,427,979 

Term Deposit 0.92 - 13,202,820 13,202,820 - 13,202,820 

Receivables - - - - 36,266 36,266 

Other financial assets 1.26 - 244,310 244,310 - 244,310 

  1,382,253 13,447,130 14,829,383 81,992 14,911,375 

Financial Liabilities      

Trade creditors - - - - 393,179 393,179 

Lease Liability 5.68 - 412,151 412,151 - 412,151 

  - 412,151 412,151 393,179 805,330 

2021       

Financial Assets       

Cash 0.06 1,930,972 - 1,930,972 223,859 2,154,831 

Term Deposit 0.24 - 17,190,378 17,190,378 - 17,190,378 

Receivables - - - - 58,206 58,206 

Other financial assets 0.40 - 244,310 244,310 - 244,310 

  1,930,972 17,434,688 19,365,660 282,065 19,647,725 

Financial Liabilities       

Trade creditors - - - - 931,735 931,735 

Lease Liability 5.68 - 656,337 656,337 - 656,337 

 - - 656,337 656,337 931,735 1,588,072 
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Note 24: Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 

  

Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity 

 -10% 10% 

 Profit Equity Profit Equity 

 $ $ $ $ 

2022     

Cash (334) (334) 334 334 

Term Deposit (12,142) (12,142) 12,142 12,142 

Other financial assets (308) (308) 308 308 

2021     

Cash (81) (81) 81 81 

Term Deposit (2,941) (2,941) 2,941 2,941 

Other financial assets (68) (68) 68 68 

     
Sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of both short term and 
long term Australian dollar interest rates. 

 -10% sensitivity would move term deposit interest rates at 30 June 2022 from around 0.92% to 0.83% (2021: 0.24% 
to 0.22%) representing a 9.2 (2021: 2.4) basis points downwards shift, which is 6.4 (2021: 1.7) basis points net of 
tax. 

 -10% sensitivity would have a negligible impact on cash interest rates at 30 June 2022 from around 0.24% to 0.22% 
(2021: 0.06% to 0.05% ) representing a 2.4 (2021: 0.6) basis points downwards shift, which is 1.7 (2021: 0.4) basis 
points net of tax. 

 -10% sensitivity would move other financial asset interest rates at 30 June 2022 from around 1.26% to 1.13% (2021: 
0.40% to 0.36%) representing a 12.6 (2021: 4) basis points downwards shift, which is 8.8 (2021: 2.8) basis points 
net of tax. 

Based on the sensitivity analysis only interest revenue from variable rate deposits and cash balances is impacted 
resulting in a decrease or increase in overall income.   

(b) Liquidity Risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash reserves required to meet the current exploration 
and administration commitments, through the continuous monitoring of actual cash flows.  All payables are due 
within 30 days. 

(c) Fair Values 

For financial assets and liabilities, the net fair value approximates their carrying value. No financial assets and 
financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form. 

(d) Credit Risk  

Credit risk arises in the event that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument leading to 
financial losses.  The Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities, financing activities including 
deposits with banks.  The credit risk control procedures adopted by the Group is to assess the credit quality of the 
institution with whom funds are deposited or invested, taking into account its financial position and past 
experiences. The maximum exposure to credit risk on financial assets of the Group which have been recognised on 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial position is generally limited to the carrying amount.  Cash and term 
deposits are maintained with major Australian banks. 

(e) Foreign Currency Risk 

The Group is not exposed to any significant foreign currency risk. 
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Note 25: Subsequent events 

On 12 August 2022, the Company announced to the ASX the appointment of Non-executive Director, Mr Teck Wong 
as an Executive Director and interim Chief Executive Officer effective from 9 August 2022, following the resignation 
of Mr Craig Ferrier as the Chief Executive Officer . 

No other significant events have arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report 
any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect 
significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in the 
future financial year.  

 

Note 26: Parent entity  

 Parent 

 2022 2021 

 $ $ 

Assets   

Current assets 15,016,768 19,719,472 

Non current assets 21,231,221 22,487,657 

Total Assets 36,247,989 42,207,129 

    

Liabilities    

Current liabilities 878,942 1,481,354 

Non current liabilities 166,592 438,171 

Total Liabilities 1,045,534 1,919,525 

    

Net Assets 35,202,455 40,287,604 

    

Equity    

Issued capital 82,460,127 82,460,127 

Reserves 7,851,718 7,851,718 

Accumulated losses (55,109,390) (50,024,241)  

Total Equity 35,202,455 40,287,604 

   

 Parent 

 2022 2021 

 $ $ 

   

Loss for the year (5,085,149) (4,715,156)  

Other comprehensive income                         -                           -   

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year (5,085,149) (4,715,156)  

   

Other than mentioned elsewhere in the financial report (refer Note 21), the Company is not aware of any 
significant contingencies as at the end of the financial year. The Company has not entered into any guarantees 
in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 
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Note 27: Controlled entities 

Tungsten Mining NL is the ultimate parent entity of the Group. 

The following were controlled entities at balance date and have been included in the consolidated financial 
statements.  All shares held are ordinary shares. 

 

Company Name 
Country of 

Incorporation 
Percentage 

Interest Held 
Percentage 

Interest Held 
Acquired/ 

Incorporated 

  2022 2021 Date 

Parent Entity     

Tungsten Mining NL Australia - - 13/07/2011 

Subsidiaries of Tungsten Mining NL:     

SM3-W Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 13/12/2012 

Pilbara Tungsten Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 30/11/2015 

Mid-West Tungsten Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 30/11/2015 

North Queensland Tungsten Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 09/08/2018 

Territory Tungsten Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 01/03/2019 
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Directors’ Declaration 
 

In the opinion of the directors of Tungsten Mining NL: 

 
(a) the consolidated financial statements and the notes set out on pages to 16 to 43 are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2022 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

 
(b) the consolidated financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 

as disclosed in Note 2(a); and 

 
(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable. 
 

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance 
with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 

 

 

Gary Lyons 
Chairman 
Perth 
Dated 20 September 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF  
TUNGSTEN MINING NL 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report  

 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial report of Tungsten Mining NL (“the Company”), and its subsidiaries (“the Group”), 

which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the consolidated statement 

of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 

cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended; and 

 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 

our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of 

the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 

Board's APES 110: Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 

financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

 

In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have 
determined the matter described below to be Key Audit Matter to be communicated in our report.  
 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters. 
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Key Audit Matters How the matter was addressed in the audit 

Carrying Value of Exploration and Evaluation 
Assets 
 
As at 30 June 2022, Exploration and Evaluation 
Assets totalled $19,707,196 (refer to Note 13 of 
the financial report).   
 
The carrying value of exploration and evaluation 
assets is a key audit matter due to: 
 

• The significance of the expenditure 
capitalised representing 53% of total assets;  
 

• The necessity to assess management’s 
application of the requirements of the 
accounting standard Exploration for and 
Evaluation of Mineral Resources (“AASB 6”), 
in light of any indicators of impairment that 
may be present; and 
 

• The assessment of significant judgements 
made by management in relation to the 
capitalised exploration and evaluation 
expenditure.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Inter alia, our audit procedures included the 
following: 

 
i. Assessed the Group’s right to tenure over 

exploration assets by corroborating the 
ownership of the relevant licences for mineral 
resources to government registries and 
relevant third-party documentation;  

 
ii. Reviewed the directors’ assessment of the 

carrying value of the capitalised exploration 
and evaluation costs, ensuring the veracity of 
the data presented and assessing 
management’s consideration of potential 
impairment indicators, commodity prices and 
the stage of the Group’s projects also against 
AASB 6; 

 
iii. Evaluation of Group documents for 

consistency with the intentions for continuing 
exploration and evaluation activities in areas of 
interest and corroborated in discussions with 
management. The documents we evaluated 
included: 

 
▪ Minutes of the board and management; 
▪ Announcements made by the Group to the 

Australian Securities Exchange; 
▪ Cash flow forecast; and 

 
iv. Consideration of the requirements of 

accounting standard AASB 6 and reviewed the 
financial statements to ensure appropriate 
disclosures are made.  
 

   Carrying value of Plant and equipment  
 
As at 30 June 2022, the carrying value of Plant and 
equipment totalled $1,943,143 (refer to Note 11 of 
the financial report).   
 
Included in Plant and equipment is a Processing 
plant amounting to $1,638,225. The Processing 
plant relates to a dismantled mineral processing 
facility and one x-ray ore sorter any of which is not 
currently being depreciated as neither are in use. 

 
The carrying value of Plant and equipment is a key 
audit matter due to: 

 

• The assessment of significant judgements 
made by management in relation to the 
carrying value and future use of the 
Processing plant.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
Inter alia, our audit procedures included the 
following: 

 
i. Reviewed the directors’ assessment of the 

carrying value of the Processing plant, 
ensuring the management has considered the 
effect of potential impairment indicators and 
future use of the plant. 
 

ii. Ensured the carrying value of the x-ray ore 
sorter reflected the existence of the identified 
impairment indicators. 

 
iii. Confirmed with the management and obtained 

documents to confirm the titles, existence and 
condition of the Processing plant.  

 
iv. Evaluated the Group’s documents for 

consistency with the intentions for the use of 
the Processing plant and corroborated with 
interviews with management. The documents 
we evaluated included: 

 
▪ Minutes of the board and management; and 
▪ Announcements made by the Group to the 

Australian Securities Exchange. 
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Considering the requirements of accounting 
standard Impairment of Assets (“AASB 136”) 
and reviewed the financial statements to 
ensure appropriate disclosures are made. 

Other Information  

 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 

in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2022 but does not include the financial report and our 

auditor’s report thereon.  

 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 

form of assurance opinion thereon.  

 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue 

as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 

realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken based on this financial report. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. 

 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control. 

 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 

We conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
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uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 

financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

 

We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in Internal control that we identify during our 

audit. 

 

The Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements. 

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits 

of such communication. 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report  

 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report  

 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 13 of the directors’ report for the year ended 

30 June 2022. 

 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Tungsten Mining NL for the year ended 30 June 2022 complies with 

section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

Responsibilities 

 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report 

in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD 

(An Authorised Audit Company) 

 
Samir Tirodkar 

Director 

West Perth, Western Australia 

20 September 2022 

 


